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BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Vivian Goria and George Goria, 

  Complainant, 
v.

San Diego Gas & Electric Company 
(U902E),

  Defendant. 

Case No:  C.16-05-005
(Filed May 9, 2016) 

DEFENDANT SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY’S ANSWER TO 
COMPLAINANT’S COMPLAINT 

Defendant, San Diego Gas & Electric Company (“SDG&E”), for itself and no others, hereby 

answers the Complaint of Complainants Vivian and George Goria (“Complainants”) as follows: 

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Contrary to Complainants’ assertion, this case is not about turning Vivian Goria (“Vivian”) into 

a bill collector for SDG&E.  Rather, this case is about Vivian, Lilian Goria (“Lilian”), and Steve Goria 

(“Steve”) repeatedly violating SDG&E’s tariffs, which resulted in a temporary discontinuance of 

service in August of 2012.  Complainants now attempt to benefit from their family’s egregious 

violations of SDG&E’s tariffs by claiming that SDG&E somehow extorted Vivian.  As the facts below 

demonstrate, SDG&E’s actions were consistent with its CPUC approved tariffs, and the service 

discontinuance resulted from the actions of Complainants and their family members. 

In or around 2008, Vivian, her brother, Steve, and her sister, Lilian lived together in a residence 

located on Hidden Mesa Drive in El Cajon, California.  Lilian had a room at the Hidden Mesa residence 

and paid rent to her sister.  As such, Lilian was a sub-tenant of Vivian at the Hidden Mesa address.   
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On or about July 29, 2009, Vivian applied to transfer her electric service from the Hidden Mesa 

residence to her new home at 2489 Saint Anne Drive, El Cajon, CA (the “Saint Anne residence” or the 

“Saint Anne address”).  During the call, Vivian informed SDG&E that Lilian would be living with her 

at the Saint Anne residence, and Steve would reside with them periodically.  Based on this information, 

SDG&E identified and listed Lilian and Steve on the account for the Saint Anne residence (the “Saint 

Anne Account”).1

Afterwards, Lilian moved into the Saint Anne residence, where she had her own room and 

continued to pay rent to Vivian.  Over the next several years, she primarily resided at the Saint Anne 

address, and temporarily lived in Michigan in 2010.  However, throughout this period, she continued to 

receive all of her mail at the Saint Anne residence, she maintained her room and personal property at 

the Saint Anne residence, and she listed the Saint Anne address as her address in all of her important 

paperwork (e.g. her DMV registration, marriage certificate, and employment records).

On or about February 1, 2010, Lilian applied to receive service at 1074 Eagle Ridge Place, El 

Cajon, CA (the “Eagle Ridge residence” or the “Eagle Ridge address”). Lilian never resided there, nor 

did she ever intend to reside there.  She established an account for the Eagle Ridge residence (the 

“Eagle Ridge Account”) for the sole purpose of helping Steve to avoid paying SDG&E’s deposit.2

Shortly thereafter, on April, 22, 2011, Lilian contacted SDG&E and instructed the company to send her 

billing statements for the Eagle Ridge residence to the Saint Anne residence. SDG&E complied.   

In the summer of 2010, the FBI commenced an investigation of Steve, Lilian, and several other 

individuals.  (See Attachment B, the Deposition of FBI Agent Gregory Houska (“Houska Depo.”), at p. 

                     
1 SDG&E’s inclusion of Lilian and Steve on the Saint Anne Account is consistent with SDG&E Electric Rule 
3.D, as Lilian and Steve were adults residing at the Saint Anne residence, and therefore would be jointly and 
severally liable for the electric bill at that address.  (See Attachment A, SDG&E Electric Rule 3.A, B, and D.)  
Because of this, Lilian and Steve were identified on the account as co-applicants.  This term has no definition in 
SDG&E’s tariffs as it is merely a term of art used to describe an individual who has been listed on the account 
for a particular residence, because he or she was identified as an adult residing at that residence. 
2 This practice constitutes intent to evade SDG&E’s credit practices, under SDG&E Electric Rule 11.D.   
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8, lns. 11-15; p. 9, lns. 7-12.)  The investigation focused on their alleged involvement in drug 

distribution and illegal sports betting.  (Id., at p. 8, lns. 20-23.)  Through the use of informants, 

wiretaps, and other sources of information, the FBI investigation produced evidence that Steve was 

transporting marijuana interstate, selling it locally in San Diego, and growing it at his residence (i.e., 

the Eagle Ridge residence).  (Id., at p. 10, lns. 5-10; p. 12, lns. 4-6; 7-9; 22-24.)

On or about April 11, 2011, Steve was arrested for charges including conspiracy to commit 

sports bribery, conduct an illegal gambling business, and distribute marijuana. Lilian was also arrested 

and indicted in relation to the alleged gambling activities, but charges were dropped against her two 

years later, in 2013.  (Id., at p. 30, lns. 13-24; p. 38, lns. 6-12.)

On April 11, 2011, the FBI searched the Eagle Ridge residence. Officers discovered a safe 

containing a pound of marijuana and other items that were indicative of the sale of marijuana.  (Id., at p. 

15, lns. 13-19.)  The officers also found what they believed to be evidence that energy theft had taken 

place at the Eagle Ridge residence.  (Id., at p. 17, lns. 17-21.)  They contacted SDG&E to request 

assistance in investigating the matter.  

As part of the investigation, FBI agents also questioned Steve’s electrician, who informed the 

agents that Steve had asked the electrician to bypass the electrical panel at the Eagle Ridge residence so 

that Steve could grow marijuana there.  (Id., at p. 20, lns. 11-15.)  The electrician claimed that although 

he did not agree to bypass Steve’s electric panel, he did “[wire] up [Steve’s] garage for marijuana 

growth.”  (Id., at p. 20, lns. 1-4.) 

Upon responding to the officers’ call, SDG&E representatives discovered tampering in the 

electric service lines, electric meter, electric panel, and facilities at the Eagle Ridge residence that 

created a bypass of the electric meter resulting in unmetered consumption at the premises. The energy 

theft that occurred at the Eagle Ridge residence was not only a violation of SDG&E’s Electric Rule 

18.D, which prohibits meter tampering and unauthorized connection or reconnections, it was also a 
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violation of California Penal Code Sections 498.  Moreover, the bypass created an unsafe condition that 

had the potential to cause a fire, electrical shock, or even the risk of electrocution to SDG&E service 

technicians, law enforcement agents, firefighters, city or county officials, and occupants of the 

residence and/or community.  Consequently, SDG&E determined that Lilian, Steve, and one of their 

co-conspirators made, or caused to be made, an electric meter bypass, resulting in energy theft.  

Pursuant to SDG&E Electric Rule 18, SDG&E estimated the value of the unauthorized energy use at 

$4,111.76.

Agent Houska submitted a report to the District Attorney’s Office in which he identified Steve, 

Lilian, Steve’s electrician, and one of Steve’s associates as being responsible for the energy theft that 

took place at the Eagle Ridge residence.  (Id., at p. 22, ln. 9 through p. 23, ln. 5.)  The report also 

recommended that the District Attorney’s Office prosecute the alleged energy theft.  (Id., at p. 22, lns. 

5-8.)  Unfortunately, the District Attorney’s Office did not bring charges because the United States 

District Court sealed the wiretap investigation records.  (Id., at p. 23, lns. 6-15.)  As a result, the FBI 

was not able to provide the District Attorney’s Office with evidence, obtained via the wiretap 

investigation, relating to the alleged energy theft that took place at the Eagle Ridge residence.  (Id.)

Initially, SDG&E waited for the criminal proceedings to provide restitution to SDG&E.  

However, when the District Attorney did not press charges, SDG&E followed its normal collection 

practices.  As such, on or about March 6, 2012, SDG&E mailed a final bill of $4,111.76, addressed to 

“Lilian Goria,” to the Saint Anne residence (the “Add-Bill” or “energy theft bill”).  SDG&E properly 

did so because Lilian was identified as a co-applicant at that address in 2009, Lilian had requested that 

SDG&E send all bills for the Eagle Ridge residence to the Saint Anne residence, and a search for 

Lilian, via the credit reporting service Experian, identified the Saint Anne address as the “Best 

Address” for Lilian.  (See Attachment C, the Declaration of Monica Freymiller (“Freymiller Decl.”), at 

p. 2, ¶ 6.)
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This bill was received by Vivian at the Saint Anne residence, and Lilian was made aware of it.  

Lilian had her then fiancé, Simon Bowles, contact SDG&E to discuss the bill.  Simon Bowles was not 

listed on the account for Eagle Ridge and, therefore, SDG&E could not provide account information to 

him.  Furthermore, during this time period, Lilian was under federal indictment.  As such, she never 

directly spoke with an SDG&E representative to specifically authorize Simon Bowles to access her 

account information.  

Having not received payment of the energy theft bill, on April 17, 2012, SDG&E transferred the 

bill from the Eagle Ridge Account to the Saint Anne Account, pursuant to SDG&E Electric Rule 

11.A.9.  This rule provides that “[a] customer's electric service may be discontinued for non-payment  

of a bill for service of the same class rendered to the customer at a previous location served by the 

Utility . . .”  (See Attachment D, SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9.)  SDG&E properly transferred the bill 

because all available evidence (e.g. the account records for the Saint Anne residence, the Experian 

search results, Lilian’s request that SDG&E send the bills for the Eagle Ride address to the Saint Anne 

address, etc.) indicated that Lilian resided at the Saint Anne residence.  Further, the power service 

provided to the Eagle Ridge and Saint Anne addresses was of the same class (i.e., residential service). 

Upon receiving the bill-transfer letter, Vivian called SDG&E to inquire about the transfer.  

SDG&E informed Vivian that its records reflected that Lilian was residing at that Saint Anne address 

when the account was established, and Lilian was never removed from the Saint Anne Account.  Vivian 

denied that Lilian was living at the Saint Anne residence and further claimed that she had not added 

Lilian to the account.  She claimed that only she and Steve were listed on the account. Vivian then 

stated that her attorney would be contacting SDG&E.  The SDG&E representative provided Vivian 

with the number for the dispute resolution department.  He also informed her that she was past due on 

the regular bill for the Saint Anne residence, in addition to the Add-Bill.   
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On May 24, 2012, Vivian called and spoke with an SDG&E representative regarding the Add-

Bill.  During this call, Vivian repeated her claim that she never added Lilian to the Saint Anne Account, 

and that she only added Steve to the account.  When asked where Lilian lived, Vivian responded 

“somewhere in Rancho,” but did not know the address.  The representative informed Vivian that 

SDG&E would require the current rental or lease agreement to where Lilian was living, to prove that

Lilian was no longer living with Vivian at the Saint Anne residence.  The SDG&E representative then 

told Vivian “I can give you the fax number if you just want to have her fax it over to us.”  Vivian 

agreed, and the number was provided.   

Having not received the requested information, on June 4, 2012, the system generated a Notice 

of Past Due on the account for both the regular electric bill for the Saint Anne address and for the Add-

bill which resulted from the energy theft at the Eagle Ridge residence.   

On June 14, 2012, Vivian called about the Notice of Past Due.  She stated that she would pay 

her regular account bill.  However, she added that she believed the $4,000 would be taken off based on 

the prior call.  The representative specifically asked Vivian if she knew whether Lilian had faxed over 

the current rent agreement.  In response, Vivian stated “No. Lilian never lived with me. I don’t know 

how they put her name on the bill to begin with. And that’s what I was trying to explain to them.”  In 

the civil case, the evidence showed that, contrary to this statement, Lilian did, in fact, live with Vivian 

at the Saint Anne residence, with the exception of a brief period of time in 2010 when Lilian lived in 

Michigan.

Vivian then claimed that Lilian had faxed over the lease, but an SDG&E customer 

representative informed Vivian that SDG&E’s records indicated that SDG&E had not received the 

lease.  The representative informed Vivian that the SDG&E employee who was handling the Saint 

Anne Account was currently out of the office, and would follow up with Vivian when the employee 

returned.  Vivian made payment arrangements on the outstanding bills in order to avoid disconnection.
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On June 18, 2012, an SDG&E representative called Vivian and informed her that SDG&E had 

not received Lilian’s lease.  The representative then provided Vivian with fax information so that the 

lease could be sent to SDG&E.  Vivian stated that Lilian and her fiancé, Simon Bowles, were out of 

town and would not return until June 29, 2012.

On or about July 2, 2012, Vivian faxed a lease agreement for 11412 #41 Via Rancho San Diego, 

El Cajon, CA 92019 to SDG&E.  The lease was incomplete.  It did not identify the tenants, nor did it 

include a signature page.  (See Freymiller Decl., at p. 3, ¶ 8; Attachment E, Incomplete Lease 

Agreement.)   

On or about July 6, 2012, SDG&E left a voicemail for Vivian, informing her that the lease she 

had provided was incomplete, and therefore SDG&E would not accept it as evidence that Lilian no 

longer resided at the Saint Anne residence.  On July 16, 2012, Vivian returned the call and claimed that 

there were signatures on the lease.  The SDG&E representative told Vivian that SDG&E required a 

complete rental agreement which shows “who’s renting to who, what day they moved in, how much 

they’re renting for, the property address, and then signatures.”  Vivian claimed that the lease she saw 

had the required signatures.  The SDG&E representative informed her that the lease that SDG&E 

received did not contain any signatures, and suggested that Vivian fax SDG&E the lease that she saw.

Instead of providing SDG&E with a complete lease, on August 2, 2012, Mr. Bowles, called 

SDG&E to establish service at the Saint Anne residence on his behalf.  He falsely claimed that no one 

would be living with him at the Saint Anne residence.  Given that the Saint Anne Account was subject 

to disconnection, an SDG&E representative informed Mr. Bowles that service could not be established 

in his name, but an SDG&E representative would call him to discuss his service request.  The call was 

then assigned for further inquiry and verification.  When an SDG&E representative called Mr. Bowles 

for further details about his service request, he claimed that he did not call SDG&E to request service.
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However, during his deposition, when Mr. Bowles was confronted with a voice recording of the call, he 

acknowledged that he made the call.

On August 6, 2012, Complainants directed their attorney, Drew Dunk, to send SDG&E a letter.

The letter contained the assertion that Lilian was not residing at the Saint Anne residence.  In the letter, 

Attorney Dunk writes “[this letter] will further confirm that you have been provided with a copy of a 

residential lease for Lilian Goria showing that she resides in Rancho San Diego and does not reside 

with Vivian Goria.”  (See Attachment F, Attorney Drew Dunk’s Letter to Lydia Bentley, dated August 

6, 2012 (“Dunk Letter”), at p. 4, ¶ 2.)  The Rancho San Diego lease was not included in the Dunk 

Letter.  Instead, Vivian’s lease agreement for the Saint Anne residence was provided.  Nevertheless, 

when the Dunk Letter was sent, Complainants were well aware that Lilian was living with them at the 

Saint Anne residence.  (See Attachment G, the Deposition of Vivian Goria (“Vivian Goria Depo.”), at 

p. 66, lns. 12-22, p. 70, lns. 1-9.)

On August 7, 2012, Complainants filed an informal complaint with the Commission.  SDG&E 

responded to the informal complaint by providing the Commission with details related to its actions.

However, having not received credible proof that Lilian lived elsewhere, SDG&E discontinued power 

to the Saint Anne residence on August 17, 2012.

On or about August 21, 2012, after the Commission reviewed the informal complaint, the 

Commission mailed Vivian a letter in which it advised her that it was unable to take further action at 

the informal level, and if she wished to pursue her dispute further she would have to file a formal 

complaint to be heard by an Administrative Law Judge.  (See Attachment H, CPUC Letter to Vivian 

Goria, dated August 21, 2012, p. 2, ¶ 3.)  The letter also included forms and instructions for filing a 

formal complaint with the Commission.  (Id.)   

On August 28, 2012, SDG&E restored electric service to the Saint Anne residence, after 

receiving a letter from Complainants’ attorney, to which a letter from a medical doctor was attached.  
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The doctor stated that Complainant George Goria (“George”) had been hospitalized twice and it was 

“essential that he have electricity in the home in order to maintain his health and safety.”  Given the 

nature of the doctor’s assertion, SDG&E temporarily restored service.  

Late, during discussions between SDG&E’s attorney and Attorney Dunk, Attorney Dunk made 

representations to SDG&E’s attorney that Lilian did not reside at the Saint Anne residence.  SDG&E’s 

attorney accepted these representations, and SDG&E ceased its collection efforts for the Add-Bill at the 

Saint Anne residence.  However, SDG&E reserved the right to recommence its collection efforts at the 

Saint Anne residence, should Attorney Dunk’s representations prove to be incorrect.  Through the civil 

case, SDG&E has learned that Attorney Dunk’s representations were, in fact, incorrect.  Lilian was 

indeed living with Complainants at the Saint Anne residence when Attorney Dunk made 

representations to the contrary.

Two years later, on or about August 15, 2014, Complainants filed a superior court complaint 

against SDG&E for alleged damages, claiming that SDG&E wrongfully transferred the Add-Bill and 

terminated service at the Saint Anne residence.  In their First Amended Complaint, Complainants 

alleged that SDG&E wrongfully disconnected electric service from the Saint Anne residence, resulting 

in the following causes of action: (1) Negligence; (2) Breach of Contract; (3) Intentional Infliction of 

Emotional Distress; (4) Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress; and (5) Civil Extortion.  (See Dunk 

Letter, at p. 4, ¶ 2.)

SDG&E denied all claims, asserted affirmative defenses and filed a Cross-Complaint against 

Lilian and Steve on March 26, 2015, alleging the following causes of action: (1) Total Indemnity; (2) 

Equitable Indemnity; (3) Damages (for Energy Theft); (4) Contribution; and (5) Implied Contractual 

Indemnity. 

On April 22, 2016, however, the court granted SDG&E’s motion for summary judgment 

dismissing the case, as the Commission has sole jurisdiction to adjudicate disputes regarding transfers 
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of bills and interpretations of tariffs related to billing issues.  Complainants filed their formal complaint 

before the Commission the day before SDG&E’s motion was granted (i.e., April 21, 2016). 

With respect to the bill transfer and service discontinuance, under SDG&E’s tariff rules, SDG&E has 

two separate and independent grounds to support these actions.  First, pursuant to SDG&E Electric 

Rule 11.A.9, the transfer of the Add-Bill was proper because the Add-Bill constitutes a debt incurred 

by Lilian at another property (i.e., the Eagle Ridge residence).  Thus, SDG&E had the authority to 

discontinue power service to the Saint Anne address, where Lilian lived, because Lilian failed to pay 

the energy theft bill from her previous address. 

Second, as discovered in the civil case, Complainants violated SDG&E Electric Rule 3.A by 

knowingly providing SDG&E with false, incomplete, misleading, and inaccurate information as 

described above.  SDG&E Electric Rule 3.A provides that SDG&E may cease providing electric 

service to customers who knowingly provide SDG&E with “false, incomplete, misleading, or 

inaccurate” information.  (See SDG&E Electric Rule 3.A.)  It is clear that Complainants, through 

Lilian, Mr. Bowles, and Attorney Dunk, provided false, incomplete, misleading, and inaccurate 

information to SDG&E.  Accordingly, pursuant to its tariff rules, SDG&E had the authority to transfer 

Lilian’s Add-Bill from the Eagle Ridge Account to the Saint Anne Account, and discontinue power to 

the Saint Anne account.

II. PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

Category: This case is an adjudicatory matter. 

Hearings: Hearings may be avoided in this proceeding because the Commission can dispose 
of the Complaint as a matter of law on summary judgment.   

Proposed Schedule 

o SDG&E’s Motion for Summary Judgment: SDG&E is planning to file this motion 
soon.
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o Complainants’ Response to SDG&E’s Motion for Summary Judgment: Due 15 days 
following SDG&E’s filing of its Motion for Summary Judgment, in accordance with 
Rule 11.1. 

o SDG&E’s Reply in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment: Due 10 days 
following Complainants’ response. 

o ALJ Decisions on SDG&E’s Motion for Summary Judgment: 30 to 60 days 
following SDG&E’s reply. 

o In the event that this case moves to hearings: 

Complainants’ Prepared Opening Testimony: 20 days following the ALJ 
decision on SDG&E’s Motion for Summary Judgment. 

SDG&E’s Prepared Reply Testimony: 20 days following Complainant’s 
Prepared Opening Testimony. 

Hearings: 14 days following SDG&E’s Prepared Reply Testimony. 

Post-Hearing-Opening Briefs: 20 days after hearings. 

Reply Briefs: 14 days following opening briefs. 

The foregoing schedule would allow for a Commission decision within 12 months, as set forth 

in Rule 4.4. 

III. SDG&E’S RESPONSES TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATIONS 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 1: 

Complainants Vivian and George Goria reside at 2489 Saint Anne Drive, El Cajon, CA 92019. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 1: 

ADMIT in part.  George currently lives at the Saint Anne residence.  However, George was 

living elsewhere prior to February of 2012.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 2: 

On July 29, 2009, Vivian Goria had her SDG&E service transferred to her new residence at the 

Saint Anne address, via a recorded call. 
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DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 2: 

ADMIT.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 3: 

During that recorded phone call, Vivian Goria informed SDG&E that her sister, Lilian Goria, 

would be living with her at the Saint Anne address, and her brother, Steve Goria, would be “in and out” 

of the residence. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 3: 

ADMIT.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 4: 

On August 3, 2009, Lilian Goria moved from the Saint Anne address to Europe, and then to 

Michigan where she stayed with her uncle and got a Michigan driver’s license. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 4: 

DENY in part.  Deposition testimony indicates that Lilian vacationed in Europe for a short 

period of time; further, Lilian temporarily relocated to Michigan in 2010.  However, while living in 

Michigan, Lilian did not rent an apartment or obtain employment.  Instead, she stayed with an uncle, 

and continued to receive mail, maintain a room, and pay rent to Vivian at the Saint Anne residence.

She returned to the Saint Anne residence in late 2010.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 5: 

Steve Goria did not move into the Saint Anne address.  He moved from his condo to a new 

residence at 1074 Eagle Ridge Place, Chula Vista, CA 91913. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 5: 

DENY in part.  It is true that Steve lived at 1074 Eagle Ridge Place, Chula Vista, CA 91913 

prior to being incarcerated.  However, he may have lived at the Saint Anne residence prior to moving 
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into the Eagle Ridge residence.  More importantly, after he was released from prison, Steve moved into 

the Saint Anne residence and has resided there ever since. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 6:

Lilian Goria helped her brother Steve Goria by opening an account in her name with SDG&E 

for the Eagle Ridge address. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 6: 

DENY in part.  Lilian did not open the account at the Eagle Ridge residence simply to “help” 

her brother.  She opened this account in her name so that her brother could avoid paying the deposit 

that SDG&E had requested.  This practice constitutes intent to evade SDG&E’s credit practices, under 

SDG&E Electric Rule 11.D. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 7: 

The Saint Anne address is the Goria family “hub.” 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 7: 

SDG&E is not aware of what Complainants mean by “hub.”  Therefore, SDG&E admits as 

follows: the evidence produced in the civil case makes it clear that Lilian has consistently maintained a 

presence at the Saint Anne residence.  All records and testimony indicate that she was residing there in 

2009, most of 2010, 2011, and in 2012; further, she continued to reside at the Saint Anne residence 

until 2015.  With respect to Steve, he may have resided at the Saint Anne residence prior to being 

incarcerated, but he definitely resided at the Saint Anne residence upon being released.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 8: 

During that recorded phone call, Vivian Goria informed SDG&E that her sister, Lilian Goria, 

would be living with her at Saint Anne, and her brother, Steve Goria, would be “in and out” of the 

residence. 
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DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 8: 

ADMIT.  Because Lilian and Steve were identified as adults who would be residing with Vivian 

at the Saint Anne residence, and benefiting from the power service provided to that address, under 

SDG&E Electric Rule 3.D, Lilian and Steve were jointly and severally liable for the energy bills 

pertaining to the Saint Anne residence.  (See SDG&E Electric Rule 3.D.)  Accordingly, SDG&E listed 

them on the Saint Anne account.  (See Attachment I, the Deposition of Beatrice Meadows (“Meadows 

Depo.”), at p. 17, lns. 11-18.) 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 9: 

On April 11, 2011, Steve Goria was arrested. The arresting officers saw what they believed to 

be a “power bypass” at the Eagle Ridge residence and contacted SDG&E.  SDG&E began an 

investigation into the alleged power theft. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 9: 

ADMIT.  During their investigation of the Eagle Ridge residence, following Steve’s arrest, 

officers found evidence that energy theft had taken place at the residence.  Upon investigating the 

power bypass, SDG&E determined that Lilian, Steve, and one of their co-conspirators made the bypass, 

or caused the bypass to be made, which resulted in energy theft. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 10: 

Steve Goria pleaded guilty to conspiracy to commit sports bribery and conspiracy to commit a 

211 robbery. He was incarcerated until June of 2013. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 10: 

ADMIT as follows:  Steve pleaded guilty to 18 U.S.C. Section 371, Conspiracy to Commit 

Sports Bribery, Conduct an Illegal Gambling Business, and Distribute Marijuana.  He was sentenced to 

imprisonment for 30 months.  Separately, Steve was indicted for allegedly violating California Penal 

Code Section 182(a)(1), Conspiracy to Commit a Crime, and California Penal Code Sections 211 and 
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213(a)(1)(A), Robbery, First Degree in Concert.  However, he was only adjudged guilty of Conspiracy 

to Commit a Crime. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 11: 

In the meantime, the Goria family helped move Steve Goria’s stuff out of the Eagle Ridge 

home.  

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 11: 

SDG&E has no knowledge regarding the veracity of this claim.  However, during the civil case, 

deposition testimony was elicited that some members of the Goria family moved Steve’s belongings, 

including a fish tank, to the Saint Anne residence. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 12: 

Steve Goria’s family did not know about the alleged power theft.

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 12: 

Unable to ADMIT or DENY, as SDG&E does not have knowledge regarding the private 

discussions among the members of the Goria family. However, Steve’s energy bills were being sent to 

the Saint Anne residence, per Lilian’s request, where Lilian was paying them for him.  (See Attachment 

J, the Deposition of Lilian Goria (“Lilian Goria Depo.”), at p. 81, lns. 17-23.)  Additionally, Vivian was 

aware that the bills for the Eagle Ridge residence were being sent to the Saint Anne residence.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 13: 

In approximately May of 2011, the Goria family paid all the outstanding bills regarding the 

Eagle Ridge address including the final SDG&E bill.  The Goria family thought everything was paid 

and all accounts closed. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 13: 

ADMIT as to the bills presented at that time. DENY as to the Add-Bill presented in March of 

2012, which remains unpaid to this day. Moreover, SDG&E has no knowledge regarding the veracity 
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of Complainants’ assertion that the Goria family believed that “everything was paid and all accounts 

[were] closed” in approximately May of 2011.  

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 14: 

On March 6, 2012, SDG&E sent a letter to Lilian Goria at the Saint Anne address.  The letter 

informed Lilian that SDG&E had discovered that an unauthorized modification of SDG&E’s 

equipment had taken place at Eagle Ridge, which resulted in energy not registering properly on the 

meter.  The letter informed Lilian, who established the Eagle Ridge account in her name, that due to the 

unmetered energy usage at Eagle Ridge, she owed SDG&E $4,111.76.  The letter also provided Lilian 

with a phone number and an email address that she could use to contact SDG&E with any questions 

that she had, or to discuss payment arrangements. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 14: 

ADMIT as follows: SDG&E sent this letter to Lilian at the Saint Anne address because Lilian 

had established the Eagle Ridge account in her name and requested that SDG&E send all billing 

statements for the Eagle Ridge residence to the Saint Anne residence.  Moreover, SDG&E sent this 

letter to Lilian at the Saint Anne address because she was identified as residing there when the Saint 

Anne Account was established, and was therefore considered a co-applicant on the account.

Furthermore, an Experian search identified the Saint Anne residence as the “Best Address” for Lilian.

(See Freymiller Decl., at p. 2, ¶¶ 2-3; 6.) 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 15: 

The Goria family was shocked.  They had no idea why SDG&E would be writing a letter about 

a meter not registering the correct usage and resulting in a bill for $4,111.76. 
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DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 15: 

Unable to ADMIT or DENY as this reflects a state of mind. SDG&E has no personal 

knowledge whether they were or were not shocked.  SDG&E contends that they shouldn’t of been 

Shocked given the extenuating circumstances of Steve’s lifestyle.   

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 16: 

Lilian Goria had her fiancé, Simon Bowles, call Mr. Whittle (i.e., the SDG&E representative 

who sent the letter to Lilian Goria) to try to discuss the matter.  Mr. Whittle required that Lilian Goria 

give him permission to speak to Mr. Bowles.  This was done and Mr. Bowles tried to determine what 

the $4,111.76 bill was for.  Mr. Whittle told Mr. Bowles that there had been a power bypass at the 

Eagle Ridge address, but he didn’t know much information about it. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 16: 

ADMIT in part and DENY in part as follows: Simon Bowles was not listed on the Eagle Ridge 

Account.  When he contacted SDG&E to discuss the Add-bill, an SDG&E representative informed him 

that he could not discuss the issue with Mr. Bowles, and therefore did not respond to Mr. Bowles’s 

questions.

Lilian never called SDG&E directly to authorize Mr. Bowles to speak on her behalf regarding 

the Eagle Ridge Account.  Furthermore, during this time period, Lilian was under federal indictment.  

As such, Lilian never directly spoke with an SDG&E representative to specifically authorize Mr. 

Bowles to access her account information.  For this reason, SDG&E did not provide Mr. Bowles with 

details regarding the Add-bill.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 17: 

Mr. Bowles then asked all the Goria family members if any of them knew anything about the 

bypass and they did not.  He did not speak to Steve Goria who was still incarcerated.  Everyone was 

concerned – especially since this issue was never raised until a year later. 
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DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 17: 

Unable to ADMIT or DENY.  SDG&E has no knowledge regarding the veracity of these claims 

or the discussions that took place among the members of the Goria family.  

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 18: 

After not being able to collect the $4,111.76 from Steve Goria who was incarcerated or from 

Lilian Goria who was in Michigan, SDG&E decided it would attempt to collect this debt from 

complainant Vivian Goria – even though she had absolutely nothing to do with the Eagle Ridge 

residence and did not get any beneficial use of the power at Eagle Ridge. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 18: 

DENY.  Lilian did not reside in Michigan in 2011 or 2012, and SDG&E did not “decide to 

collect a debt from Vivian.”  Instead, SDG&E transferred Lilian’s energy theft bill from the Eagle 

Ridge account, for which Lilian was responsible, to the Saint Anne account because: (1) SDG&E’s 

account records identified Lilian as a resident of the Saint Anne address prior to the creation of the 

energy theft bill; (2)  Lilian directed SDG&E to send the bills for the Eagle Ridge residence to the Saint 

Anne residence, and (3) an Experian search listed the Saint Anne address as Lilian’s “Best Address.”   

With respect to the statement that Vivian “had absolutely nothing to do with the Eagle Ridge 

residence,” Vivian was aware that the bills for the Eagle Ridge residence were being sent to Lilian at 

the Saint Anne residence, and allowed this to occur without objection.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 19: 

When Vivian Goria said she did not have $4,111.76 and that she should not be responsible for 

her sibling’s debt, SDG&E sent her a shut-off notice. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 19: 

DENY.  For the reasons set forth previously, this is a blatant mischaracterization of Vivian’s 

interactions with SDG&E.   
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COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 20: 

Then, Vivian Goria retained attorney Andrew P. P. Dunk III to represent her and get SDG&E to 

back down from their attempt to collect Steve and Lilian Goria’s disputed debt from Vivian Goria.   

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 20: 

Unable to ADMIT or DENY as this reflects discussions between Plaintiff and her attorney.

However, it is clear that in August of 2012, Vivian knew that Lilian was living at the Saint Anne 

residence, but Attorney Dunk represented to SDG&E that Lilian did not live at the Saint Anne 

residence in August of 2012.  Therefore, Vivian’s true motives for retaining Attorney Dunk are 

unknown to SDG&E.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 21: 

They also contacted UCAN and “Consumer Bob” Hanson at NBC Universal KNSD for 

assistance.  Attorney Dunk contacted SDG&E on July 30, 2012 and was advised that unless payment 

was received by August 6, 2012, service would be shut off on August 7, 2012. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 21: 

ADMIT.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 22: 

Attorney Dunk spoke with Ms. Leslie Gallagos who was extremely rude and evasive to his 

questions.

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 22: 

DENY.  SDG&E fully denies Complainants’ characterization of this phone call. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 23: 

He was finally transferred to a supervisor, Ms. Lydia Bentley.  Attorney Dunk summarized his 

discussions as follows: During my conversations, I was basically advised that SDG&E’s position is that 

the Tariff allows them to transfer the debt from one person to another person’s account. 
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DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 23:

DENY.  This is a blatant mischaracterization of SDG&E’s position regarding bill transfers.  As 

discussed in its Response to Complainants’ Allegation No. 19, SDG&E sought to collect on the energy 

theft debt from Lilian at the Saint Anne address, pursuant to SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 24: 

I was referred to Tariff Rule 3D as the basis for their position.  SDG&E said that because Lilian 

was now living with Vivian, they were transferring the debt to Vivian’s account. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 24: 

DENY.  At the time that this phone call took place, SDG&E’s records reflected that Lilian had 

been a co-applicant on the Saint Anne account since the account was first opened in 2009.  As 

discussed in its response to Complainants’ Allegation No. 19, SDG&E sought to collect on the energy 

theft debt from Lilian at the Saint Anne address, pursuant to SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 25: 

We discussed that it was my understanding that Lilian Goria did not live with Vivian Goria, but 

SDG&E did not want to hear anything. They just wanted to be paid. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 25: 

ADMIT as follows: At her deposition, Vivian testified that Lilian resided with Complainants at 

the Saint Anne residence when this phone conversation took place, and continued to live there until 

June of 2015.  (See Vivian Goria Depo., at p. 66, lns. 12-22, p. 70, lns. 1-9.)  Therefore, either Attorney 

Dunk provided Ms. Bentley with false information regarding Lilian’s whereabouts, or Complainants 

provided Attorney Dunk with false information regarding Lilian’s whereabouts.  SDG&E requested 

that Vivian provide SDG&E with proof that Lilian no longer resided at the Saint Anne residence, but 

Vivian failed to provide any such evidence.
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COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 26: 

We discussed that my clients had provided a copy of Lilian’s residential lease showing she was 

residing elsewhere, but they said it was not good enough evidence.  I offered to provide Vivian’s sworn 

statement under penalty of perjury, but they said that wasn’t good enough either.  I explained that a 

sworn statement was good enough for the California Superior Court, but they said it wasn’t good 

enough for them. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 26: 

DENY.  First, SDG&E does not take the position that the lease agreement that Vivian provided 

was not “good enough.”  As previously referenced, the lease agreement was incomplete.  It did not 

contain any names or signatures.  Without this basic information, SDG&E had no basis to conclude that 

Lilian lived at an address other than the Saint Anne address. 

Secondly, Lilian did, in fact, reside with Complainants at the Saint Anne residence when 

Attorney Dunk claimed that Vivian was willing to provide a sworn statement to the contrary.  Attorney 

Dunk’s representation indicates that Vivian was willing to lie under oath in order to convince SDG&E  

that Lilian did not live with her at the Saint Anne residence.  Such conduct indicates that Vivian 

understood that if Lilian was residing with her at the Saint Anne residence, SDG&E would have the 

authority to transfer Lilian’s Add-Bill to the account for the Saint Anne address, where Lilian resided.

Given this information, SDG&E’s decision to not rely on an incomplete lease or sworn 

statement provided by Vivian was well founded. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 27: 

Attorney Dunk spoke with Ms. Leslie Gallagos who was extremely rude and evasive to his 

questions.

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 27: 

DENY.  SDG&E fully denies Complainants’ characterization of this phone call. 
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COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 28: 

On July 31, 2012, SDG&E sent a “FINAL NOTICE BEFORE DISCONNECT” to Vivian Goria 

demanding $3,790 to avoid a shut off of her power.  Attorney Dunk called SDG&E and was advised 

that service would be shut off on August 7, 2012, unless payment was received by August 6, 2012. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 28: 

ADMIT.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 29: 

Mr. Dunk spoke with Ms. Collins who Mr. Dunk believed was unhelpful, rude and would not 

listen to any argument regarding the Tariff whatsoever. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 29: 

DENY.  SDG&E fully denies Complainants’ characterization of this phone call. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 30: 

She said that Vivian Goria added Lilian Goria as a co-applicant on July 29, 2009. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 30: 

ADMIT as follows: SDG&E added Lilian to the Saint Anne Account when Vivian identified 

her as an adult that would be residing at the Saint Anne residence.  According to SDG&E’s tariff rules, 

regardless of whether individuals residing together file a joint application for service, adults who reside 

at a residence and benefit from the power service provided to that residence are jointly and severally 

liable for that power service while they reside at the residence.  (See SDG&E Electric Rule 3.D.)

Accordingly, pursuant to SDG&E’s tariff rules, Lilian was identified as a co-applicant on the 

Saint Anne Account when Vivian established service on July, 29, 2009, and informed SDG&E that 

Lilian was an adult who would be living with her at the Saint Anne residence.  (See SDG&E Electric 

Rule 3.D); Meadows Depo., at p. 17, lns. 11-18.) 
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COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 31:

Mr. Dunk advised SDG&E that Lilian Goria was not a co-applicant of Vivian Goria. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 31: 

DENY.  As discussed in SDG&E’s Response to Complainants’ Allegation No. 30, Lilian was 

listed as a co-applicant on the Saint Anne account, under SDG&E Electric Rule 3.D, because she 

resided there, and was therefore jointly and severally liable for the service provided to the Saint Anne 

address while she lived there. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 32: 

This is a significant question we specifically ask the CPUC to rule on.  Was Lilian Goria a co-

applicant on Vivian Goria’s account or was she simply an adult residing at the premises? 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 32: 

No admission or denial is required, since this is Complainants’ request; However, if one is 

required, then SDG&E DENIES as it believes that the pertinent issues in this case are as follows: (1) 

Was Lilian an adult when she was identified by Vivian as a person that would be residing at the Saint 

Anne residence; (2) Did Lilian reside at the Saint Anne residence as claimed by Vivian; (3) Did Lilian 

violate SDG&E’s tariffs by establishing service at the Eagle Ridge residence, in her name, so that Steve 

could avoid paying a deposit to SDG&E; (4) did energy theft occur at the Eagle Ridge residence; (5) 

did SDG&E calculate Lilian’s Add-Bill, pursuant to its tariffs; (6) did SDG&E mail the Add-Bill to the 

Saint Anne residence; (7) did SDG&E’s records and public records reflect that Lilian lived at the Saint 

Anne address; (8) was the energy theft bill paid; (9) did Complainants, their attorney, Lilian, and/or Mr. 

Bowles make false, incomplete, inaccurate, or misleading representations to SDG&E regarding Lilian’s 

address; (10) was Lilian living at the Saint Anne residence when the power service was discontinued to 

that address in August of 2012; and (11) did the Eagle Ridge and Saint Anne addresses receive the 

same class of power service (e.g. residential service)?   
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COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 33: 

Tariff Rule 3 makes a clear distinction between the “name of the applicant(s)” and the “name of 

the applicant’s spouse or other adults residing at the premises.”  Requesting the name of other adults 

residing at the premises would be appropriate because they could be jointly and severally liable for 

service rendered while such other adults resided at the premises and benefited from said services.  

Nowhere in the Tariff Rules is co-applicant defined.  

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 33: 

DENY as follows: When Vivian called to establish service at the Saint Anne residence, Vivian 

was aware that Lilian would be moving to the Saint Anne residence with her.  As such, Vivian called 

SDG&E to establish service on behalf of herself, and her entire household (including Lilian). 

Complainants’ focus on the irrelevant issue of whether Lilian should have been listed as a “co-

applicant” on the Saint Anne Account is misguided.  As discussed in SDG&E’s Response to  

Complainants’ Allegation No. 30, Lilian was listed as a co-applicant on the Saint Anne account, under 

SDG&E Electric Rule 3.D, because she identified as residing there, and was therefore jointly and 

severally liable for the service provided to the Saint Anne address while she lived there. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 34: 

According to BusinessDictionary.com, a co-applicant is defined as, “A signatory on a credit 

application who assumes equal responsibility as the applicant.”  Lilian Goria was not a signatory on 

Vivian Goria’s account.  More importantly, Vivian Goria was not a co-applicant of Lilian Goria. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 34: 

DENY.  BusinessDictionay.com definitions are not relevant to the issues presented in this 

matter.  The pertinent rules are the tariffs approved by the CPUC.  SDG&E Electric Rule 3.D clearly 

provides that regardless of whether individuals residing together file a joint application for 

service, all adults residing in a residence and benefiting from the power service provided to that 
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residence are jointly and severally liable for that power service.  As discussed in SDG&E’s Response to 

Complainants’ Allegation No. 30, Lilian was listed as a co-applicant on the Saint Anne account, under 

SDG&E Electric Rule 3.D, because she resided there, and was therefore jointly and severally liable for 

the service provided to the Saint Anne address while she lived there. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 35: 

SDG&E has taken the position that because Lilian Goria was an adult residing in Vivian 

Goria’s Saint Anne residence at the time Vivian Goria transferred services to the Saint Anne residence, 

this made Lilian Goria a “co-applicant” of Vivian Goria’s account.   

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 35: 

ADMIT as follows: This statement misstates SDG&E’s position and fails to acknowledge that 

Lilian was not just residing at the Saint Anne residence when service was established at that address: 

Lilian Goria resided at the Saint Anne residence when power service was disconnected from that 

address due to her failure to pay her Add-Bill.  (See SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9.) 

 Moreover, Complainants’ focus on the irrelevant issue of whether Lilian should have been 

listed as a “co-applicant” on the Saint Anne account is misguided.  As discussed in SDG&E’s Response 

to Complainants’ Allegation No. 30, Lilian was listed on the Saint Anne account, under SDG&E 

Electric Rule 3.D, because she resided there, and was therefore jointly and severally liable for the 

service provided to the Saint Anne address while she lived there. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 36: 

SDG&E next argues that when Lilian Goria opened her own account at Eagle Ridge, SDG&E 

could transfer any debt from Eagle Ridge to Vivian Goria’s account at Saint Anne even though Vivian 

Goria had nothing to do with the Eagle Ridge account.
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DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 36: 

DENY as follows: SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9, which was approved by the Commission, 

provides that, “[a] customer's electric service may be discontinued for non-payment of a bill for service 

of the same class rendered to the customer at a previous location served by the Utility . . .”  Pursuant to 

this rule, SDG&E had the authority to discontinue power service to the Saint Anne residence in August 

of 2012 because the Saint Anne address was Lilian’s current address at the time, she had not paid the 

energy theft bill at her previous address (i.e., the Eagle Ridge address), the Saint Anne address received 

the same class of power service as the Eagle Ridge address (i.e., residential service), and both addresses 

are served by SDG&E. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 37: 

On August 6, 2012 Attorney Dunk sent a letter to Ms. Bentley at SDG&E stating the facts and 

law and advising SDG&E that turning off the power would affect Vivian Goria’s “sick father, children, 

and a baby living in the home who cannot live without power.” 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 37: 

DENY as follows. The letter made misplaced arguments regarding the facts and law which 

SDG&E did not accept.  Further, in the letter, Complainant’s Attorney made the false, incomplete, 

misleading, and inaccurate representation that Lilian did not reside at the Saint Anne residence 

as of August 6, 2012 (the day on which the letter was sent).  Vivian later testified, at her deposition, 

that Lilian did live with her at the Saint Anne residence at that time, and continued to live there until 

June of 2015.  (See Vivian Goria Depo., at p. 66, lns. 12-22, p. 70, lns. 1-9.) 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 38: 

On August 20, 2012, Attorney Dunk called Ms. Meadows at SDG&E and advised her that it 

was 100 degrees in El Cajon and the Gorias were very worried about George Goria as he is 72 with a 

heart condition and dementia.  He has difficulty walking.  He has to urinate frequently and can’t see in 
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the middle of the night to go to the bathroom without any electricity.  Ms. Meadows basically didn’t 

want to hear anything and said “this is now at the attorney level so I can’t help you.” 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 38: 

DENY.  SDG&E fully denies these allegations as they are characterized and phrased.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 39: 

 Despite the best efforts of Attorney Dunk, UCAN, and “Consumer Bob” Hanson at NBC, 

SDG&E terminated Vivian Goria’s power because she would not pay this debt. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 39: 

DENY.  As discussed in SDG&E’s Response To Complainants’ Allegation No. 36, pursuant to 

SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9, SDG&E discontinued power service to the Saint Anne residence in 

August of 2012 because the Saint Anne address was Lilian’s current address at the time, she had not 

paid the energy theft bill at her previous address (i.e., the Eagle Ridge address), the Saint Anne address 

received the same class of power service as the Eagle Ridge address (i.e., residential service), and both 

addresses are served by SDG&E. 

SDG&E provided the Complainants with multiple opportunities to provide a valid, complete 

lease for Lilian to establish that Lilian no longer lived at the Saint Anne residence, but failed to do so.

Moreover, Lilian was fully aware of SDG&E’s efforts to contact her, regarding her energy theft bill, 

but she chose to sit back and allow power service to be disconnected from the Saint Anne residence, 

instead of taking responsibility for her energy theft debt by making payment arrangements with 

SDG&E.   

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 40: 

 The termination caused a number of problems including almost killing George Goria who had 

to be admitted to Sharp Grossmont Hospital for dehydration and who was in critical condition for some 

of that time. 
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DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 40:

 DENY as follows: These claims are exaggerated. In particular, the medical records do not 

indicate that the power service discontinuance threatened George’s life.  However, the records do 

indicate that George had previously sought medical care for dehydration.       

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 41: 

 Vivian Goria had also filed an informal complaint with the CPUC (File 235744).  On August 

21, 2012, the CPUC wrote to Vivian Goria and stated “we are unable to take further action at the 

informal level.  If you wish to pursue your dispute further, you should file a formal complaint and have 

your issue heard by an Administrative Law Judge.” 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 41:

ADMIT.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 42: 

 On August 27, 2012, Attorney Dunk had a telephone conference with Virginia Armstrong at the 

CPUC regarding Exhibit 4.  She said that the CPUC made no determination that either Lilian Goria or 

Steve Goria were co-applicants as written in paragraph 2 of her letter.  She said that information was 

provided to them by the utility. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 42:

 Unable to ADMIT or DENY.  SDG&E has no information regarding Attorney Dunk’s alleged 

phone conversation with Ms. Armstrong.   

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 43: 

 On August 15, 2014, Vivian Goria and George Goria filed suit in San Diego Superior Court for 

damages with the following causes of action: 1. Negligence, 2. Breach of Contract, 3. Intentional 

Infliction of Emotional Distress, 4. Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, 5. Violation of the 

RFDCPA, and 6. Civil Extortion. 
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DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 43:

 ADMIT on the following basis:  SDG&E answered, denied, and filed a cross-complaint in 

response.

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 44: 

 During the litigation, SDG&E has taken the position that this matter must be resolved by the 

CPUC.

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 44: 

ADMIT as follows: (1) Complainants filed an informal complaint with the Commission.  The 

Commission responded to this informal complaint by informing Complainants to file a formal 

complaint if they wished to pursue their dispute further; and (2) the Commission has exclusive 

jurisdiction over billing and bill transfer complaints and interpretation over tariffs. 

COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 45: 

 As such we are filing this formal complaint seeking a declaratory judgment that SDG&E had no 

legal justification for its collection efforts against Vivian Goria for Lilian Goria and Steve Goria’s debt 

and thus suit in Superior Court for damages is appropriate. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 45:

DENY as follows: SDG&E’s actions were guided by its CPUC approved tariffs, which 

Complainants repeatedly violated.  

1. Listing Lilian as a Co-Applicant on the Saint Anne Account Was Consistent with Its Tariffs Because 

Vivian Identified Lilian as an Adult Who Would Be Residing at the Saint Anne Residence.  Electric Rule 

3.A, B, and D. 

 At her deposition, Lilian testified that she is 43 years old.  (See Lilian Goria Depo. at p. 8, lns. 

3-4.)  Therefore, she was an adult at all times relevant to this case.  Moreover, as Complainants indicate 

in their complaint, when Vivian called SDG&E to establish service at the Saint Anne residence in 2009, 



- 30 -

 

she informed SDG&E that Lilian would be living with her.  Given that Lilian was an adult who would 

be living with Vivian at the Saint Anne residence, under SDG&E Electric Rule 3.D, Lilian would be  

jointly and severally liable for the service provided to that address while Lilian lived there.  

Accordingly, SDG&E listed her as a co-applicant on the Saint Anne account.  This action was 

consistent with SDG&E’s tariffs.   

2. SDG&E’s Decision to Mail Lilian’s Add-Bill to the Saint Anne Residence Was Consistent With its 

Tariffs, Because Lilian Requested That SDG&E Send Bills for the Eagle Ridge Account to the Saint Anne 

Residence. 

Shortly after Lilian established service at the Eagle Ridge residence, she requested that SDG&E 

send all bills for the Eagle Ridge residence to the Saint Anne residence.  SDG&E complied with her 

request.  Furthermore, in accordance with this practice, SDG&E sent Lilian’s Add-Bill, which was 

addressed to Lilian, to the Saint Anne residence. 

No SDG&E tariff rule prevents customers from changing the address at which they receive their 

bills.  Moreover, it is in the best interest of SDG&E and its customers for SDG&E to send its 

customers’ bills to its customers’ preferred mailing addresses.  SDG&E’s decision to send Lilian’s 

Add-Bill to the Saint-Anne residence was consistent with its tariffs. 

3. SDG&E Had the Authority to Discontinue Power Service to the Saint Anne Residence, in 

August of 2012, Because Complainants failed to provide SDG&E with a Valid, Complete Lease 

Agreement for Lilian, and Complainants Misled SDG&E Regarding Lilian’s Whereabouts. 

As previously discussed, although SDG&E provided Vivian with multiple opportunities to produce 

a valid, complete lease agreement for Lilian, to show that Lilian no longer lived at the Saint Anne 

residence, Vivian failed to do so.  Therefore, SDG&E had the authority to discontinue power service to 

the Saint Anne residence, in August of 2012, pursuant to SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9.D.  

Furthermore, SDG&E had separate and independent authority to discontinue power service to the Saint  
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Anne residence in August of 2012, under SDG&E Electric Rule 3.A, because Complainants knowingly 

provided SDG&E with false, incomplete, misleading, and inaccurate information, regarding Lilian’s 

whereabouts, in their August 6, 2012 letter to SDG&E.

Authority Under SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9 

 SDG&E Electric Rule 11.A.9, which was approved by the Commission, provides that, “[a] 

customer's electric service may be discontinued for non-payment of a bill for service of the same class 

rendered to the customer at a previous location served by the Utility . . .”  Pursuant to this rule, SDG&E 

had the authority to discontinue power service to the Saint Anne address, in August of 2012, because 

the Saint Anne address was Lilian’s current address at the time, she had not paid the Add-Bill for her 

previous address (i.e., the Eagle Ridge address), the Saint Anne address received the same class of 

power service as the Eagle Ridge address (i.e., residential service), and both addresses are served by 

SDG&E. 

Authority Under SDG&E Electric Rule 3.A 

SDG&E Electric Rule 3.A, which was approved by the Commission, provides that “[i]f an 

applicant knowingly furnishes false, incomplete, misleading or inaccurate information” to SDG&E, 

SDG&E has the authority to disconnect power service to the applicant’s address.  Therefore, SDG&E 

had the authority to disconnect power service from the Saint Anne residence as of August 6, 2012, 

when Complainants directed Attorney Dunk to send SDG&E a letter in which they knowingly made the 

false, incomplete, misleading, and inaccurate claim that Lilian did not reside with Complainants at the 

Saint Anne residence at that time. 

 For these reasons, SDG&E had two separate and independent bases of authority to discontinue 

power service to the Saint Anne address in August of 2012. 
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COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 46:

We request that this complaint be handled under the regular formal complaint procedure.  

Although there are some disputed facts, complainants believe that this matter can be adjudicated 

without need for a hearing because when taking the facts as alleged by SDG&E, there is no legal 

justification for SDG&E’s actions. If, however, the CPUC determines that a hearing or hearings are 

necessary, we request that all hearings be held in a location in San Diego.  This will also accommodate 

George Goria who has difficulty travelling. 

DEFENDANT’S RESPONSE TO COMPLAINANTS’ ALLEGATION NO. 46:

 Not an allegation that can be admitted or denied.  This is Complaints’ prayer for relief and 

venue.

IV. AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
(Breach of Obligation by Complainants) 

As an affirmative defense to Complainants’ Complaint, SDG&E alleges that the Complaint is 

barred due to Complainants’ breach of their obligations to SDG&E, pursuant to SDG&E’s Electric 

Rules, which have the force and effect of law. 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
(Unclean Hands) 

As an affirmative defense to Complainants’ Complaint, SDG&E alleges that as a result of 

Complainants’ acts and omissions in the matters relevant to this Complaint, Complainants have unclean 

hands and are barred from asserting any claims against SDG&E.   

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
(CPUC Rule of Practice and Procedure 1.1 Violation) 

 As an affirmative defense to Complainants’ Complaint, SDG&E alleges that, in their complaint 

before the Commission, Complainants have attempted to mislead the Commission by making a false 

statement of fact, in violation of Rule 1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure.  The 
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Complainants inexplicably cites to their misleading August 6, 2012 letter to support their claim that the bill 

transfer was improper.  However, their complaint fails to acknowledge the fact that Lilian did live with 

Complainants at the Saint Anne residence as of August 6, 2012, even though the August 6, 2012 letter 

contains a misleading assertion to the contrary.  In particular, at her deposition in the civil case, Vivian 

testified under oath that Lilian resided at the Saint Anne residence as of August 6, 2012, and continued to 

reside there until June of 2015.  (See Vivian Goria Depo., at p. 66, lns. 12-22, p. 70, lns. 1-9.)  Thus, 

Complainants’ claim, made via the August 6, 2012 letter cited to in complaint, that Lilian was not living at 

the Saint Anne residence as of August 6, 2012, is untrue. 

By citing to this misleading letter without acknowledging that it contains false information, 

SDG&E asserts that Complainants have attempted to deceive the Commission into believing that Lilian 

did not reside with Complainants in August of 2012, when the power service discontinuance took 

place.  In doing so, they have violated Rule 1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure. 

V. CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, SDG&E respectfully requests that Complainants’ Complaint be dismissed. 

DATED: June 16, 2016   OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL 

      By:               /s/ Raul Olamendi Smith
              RAUL OLAMENDI SMITH 
              Attorneys for Defendant 

        SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 
8330 Century Park Court, 2nd Floor 
San Diego, CA  92123-1530 
Telephone:  (858) 654-1625 
Facsimile:   (619) 696-4838 
rasmith@semprautilities.com
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   Revised Cal. P.U.C. Sheet No. 15484-E 

San Diego Gas & Electric Company     
San Diego, California  Canceling Revised Cal. P.U.C. Sheet No. 8431-E 

RULE 3 Sheet 1 

 APPLICATION FOR SERVICE

   (Continued)     
1C16   Issued by  Date Filed Jul 15, 2002 
Advice Ltr. No. 1423-E Lee Schavrien  Effective Aug 24, 2002 
   Vice President     
Decision No.   Regulatory Affairs  Resolution No.  

A. Application

An application for service is required.  At the option of the Utility, a verbal request for service may be 
accepted. However, each applicant for service may be required to sign an application on a form 
provided by the Utility.  The application information may vary depending upon the type of service 
requested by the applicant.  Applicants desiring special rates and/or services may be required to 
complete additional forms and/or contracts in accordance with the Utility's applicable tariffs. 

The application is a request for service and it does not bind the Utility to serve except under its filed 
tariffs and under reasonable conditions. The application does not bind the applicant to take service 
for a longer period than the minimum requirements of the Utility's tariffs.  These tariffs constitute the 
terms and conditions of the agreement between the Utility and the customer for service rendered, 
unless otherwise agreed to in writing. 

The Utility may refuse or discontinue electric service if the acts of the applicant indicate an intent to 
evade the credit practices of the Utility or if the conditions on the applicant's premises indicate an 
intent to evade payment of a Utility bill.  If an applicant knowingly furnishes false, incomplete, 
misleading or inaccurate information or refuses to provide required information to the Utility, it shall 
be deemed to be an intent to evade the credit practices of the Utility.  Upon written request of the 
applicant, the Utility shall provide a written statement of the reason for such refusal or 
discontinuance.

B. Information Required on Application

In addition to the information the Utility may require from applicants in order to establish credit in 
accordance with Rule No. 6 and to establish the identity of the applicant, all applicants shall provide 
such other information as the Utility may reasonably require for service.  This information includes, 
but is not limited to: 

1. Legal name of the applicant(s). 
2. Name of the applicant's spouse or other adults residing at the premises. 
3. Service address. 
4. Billing address. 
5. Date applicant will be ready for service. 
6. Purpose for which service is to be used with description of appliances. 
7. Whether electric service has previously been supplied to the premises. 
8. Whether applicant is the owner, agent or tenant of the premises. 
9. Rate schedule desired (if optional schedules are available). 

The applicant may also be required to provide information necessary to the design, installation, 
maintenance and operation of the Utility's facilities, including the connected load, the number of 
residential dwelling units/spaces, the size or character of the appliances or apparatus to be installed, 
and other information required by the Utility's applicable tariffs.  Further, prior to and while taking 
service, for every service, applicant must meet the Utility’s creditworthiness requirements.  In 
addition, a service establishment charge may be required when service is established or re-
established. 
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   Revised Cal. P.U.C. Sheet No. 15485-E 

San Diego Gas & Electric Company     
San Diego, California  Canceling Revised Cal. P.U.C. Sheet No. 11596-E 

RULE 3 Sheet 2 

 APPLICATION FOR SERVICE

        
2C20   Issued by  Date Filed Jul 15, 2002 
Advice Ltr. No. 1423-E Lee Schavrien  Effective Aug 24, 2002 
   Vice President     
Decision No.   Regulatory Affairs  Resolution No.  

C. Changes in Load or Operation

It is the customer's responsibility to notify the Utility in writing within 15 days if the customer makes 
any change in the connected load, in the number of residential dwelling units/spaces, or in the size 
or character of the appliances or apparatus.  Such change(s) may require a new application for 
service and/or a change in the Utility's service facilities and may result in the customer being 
transferred to a different tariff schedule. 

D. Joint and Several Liability for Service/Beneficial Use

Where two or more applicants join in one application or contract for Utility service, they shall be 
jointly and severally liable under the terms of the application/contract and shall be billed by means of 
a single periodic bill mailed to the customer designated to receive the bill. 

Whether or not the Utility obtained a joint application or contract for residential service, where there 
is evidence that an adult(s) other than the applicant resided at the premises and benefited from 
Utility service, the other adult(s) and the applicant shall be jointly and severally liable for service 
rendered while such other adults resided at the premises. 

E. Refusal to Provide Service or Discontinuance of Service

The Utility may refuse to provide service or may discontinue or disconnect service and/or may rebill 
the account when: 

 1. The information provided to the Utility in applying for service is false, incomplete, or 
inaccurate; or 

 2. The applicant has applied for service under a fictitious name or under the name of another to 
avoid payment of any Utility bill for service provided at the current premises or any previous 
premises or that the applicant has requested service in his/her legal name to assist another 
in avoiding payment of any Utility bill for service provided at the current account location or 
any previous account location; or 

 3. The applicant and/or other adults residing with the applicant have received the benefit of 
service without paying for it and are attempting to change the name on the account to avoid 
payment of any Utility bill for service provided at the current account location or any previous 
account location; or 

 4. The Utility is unable to arrange with the applicant or customer for a safe working 
environment for Utility employees on the premises being served. 

In the event of a rebill, the Utility shall provide the customer with the reason for such rebill. 

F. Request for Medical Baseline Allowance by Residential Customer

The Utility may require a residential customer, or prospective residential customer, to complete a 
Medical Baseline Allowance Application, Form 132-150, if appropriate, before additional medical 
baseline quantities can be determined.  The additional medical baseline allowance will become 
effective for service rendered after the next regular meter reading following receipt of the Application 
by the Utility. 
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